FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
7/1/2022 4:16 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/5/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>1010</u>64-8 (COA No. 82447-3-I)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BERNARDINO SANDOVAL,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

BEVERLY K. TSAI Attorney for the Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711
wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Bernardino Sandoval asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision under RAP 13.3 and RAP 13.4.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Sandoval appealed the trial court's refusal to exercise its legislatively granted discretion to determine the amount of restitution. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's restitution order and wrongly narrowed the statutory grant of discretion. A copy of the Court of Appeals decision, *State v. Sandoval*, No. 82447-3-I, 2022 WL 2047218 (Wash. Ct. App. June 6, 2022), is attached as an appendix.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The legislature granted trial courts broad discretion to determine the amout of restitution. This is true even where the State requests restitution pursuant to the crime victims' compensation act (CVCA). To hold otherwise would permit a state agency to perform a judicial function, in violatation of the separation of powers doctrine. Here, Mr. Sandoval objected to

the restitution amount because he is disabled, unable to work, and completely reliant on government assistance. Yet the trial court concluded it had no discretion to order less or no restitution, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions by this Court and the Court of Appeals and trial courts need guidance on the important issue of their authority to order restitution.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Sandoval is currently 58 years old. He is disabled, and he lives with multiple chronic conditions, including rheumatoid arthritis, psoriatic arthritis, and carpal tunnel syndrome. RP at 85. Sometimes his symptoms are so severe he cannot walk. RP 88. Because of his disabilities, he is unable to work, and he is entirely dependent on public benefits. Supp. CP 74-76; RP at 88-89.

Mr. Sandoval pleaded guilty to third degree assault and unlawful display of a weapon. CP at 9-47. In his plea agreement, he acknowledged the court will order restitution

"unless extraordinary circumstances exist which make restitution inappropriate." CP at 12.

The State requested \$3,339.68 in restitution under the CVCA for the complaining witness's medical and counseling bills. CP 62-65; RP at 88. Mr. Sandoval objected, pointing out he is unable to pay restitution because his disabilities prevent him from working to pay off his debt. RP at 85-89. Because he will "be back on Welfare and SSI" upon release, he argued his ability to pay restitution "is going to be almost impossible." RP at 89. Mr. Sandoval told the court, "I don't know how I'm going to pay [restitution]." RP at 89.

Mr. Sandoval also argued the amount of restitution was improper because the complaining witness left the hospital against medical advice and the counseling sessions were not connected to the offense. RP 85-86.

The trial court sympathized with Mr. Sandoval's concerns but concluded "restitution is mandatory." RP 93. The court did reject restitution for the costs of counseling sessions

after finding there was no connection between the offense and those counseling sessions. RP 90. But the court ordered Mr. Sandoval to pay \$2,438.56 for medical bills. CP at 66.

The Court of Appeals remanded to the trial court to protect Mr. Sandoval's Social Security benefits from collection, but otherwise affirmed the restitution order. App. at 9.

E. ARGUMENT

Trial courts have broad discretion in ordering restitution. The Court of Appeals decision that courts have no discretion when restitution is payable under the CVCA warrants this Court's review.

The trial court's authority to order restitution is derived from statute, which grants "broad discretion." *State v. Tobin*, 161 Wn.2d 517, 523, 526-57, 166 P.3d 1167 (2007). "The very language of the restitution statutes indicates legislative intent to grant broad powers of restitution." *State v. Davison*, 116 Wn.2d 917, 920, 809 P.2d 1374 (1991).

The legislature has directed that "[r]estitution shall be ordered whenever the offender is convicted of an offense which results in injury to any person or damage to or loss of property."

RCW 9.94A.753(5). The court is not required to order a specific amount, and it can order less or no restitution if "extraordinary circumstances exist which make restitution inappropriate in the court's judgment." RCW 9.94A.753(5).

The statute similarly authorizes the court to order restitution in cases pursuant to the CVCA. RCW 9.94A.753(7). However, nothing in the statute requires the court to order a particular amount. Regardless of whether the prosecution or the Department of Labor and Industries¹ requests restitution, the trial court still has discretion to determine the amount of restitution. *See* RCW 7.68.120(1) (regardless of the amount of restitution the Department requests, the amount "shall be

¹ The Washington State Department of Labor and Industries (the "Department") is a state agency, and its main function is running the state's workers' compensation system. It also operates the crime victims' compensation program. RCW 7.68.015. Under this program, person can file a claim to request benefits from the Department if they were injured as a result of certain crimes. RCW 7.68.070. If the Department pays benefits, it can request the court to order the offender to pay restitution. RCW 7.68.120.

limited to the amount provided for in the order"). The court determines the amount of restitution at a hearing. RCW 7.68.120(2)(a); RCW 9.94A.753(7). This hearing is necessary to determine the amount of restitution, and it is required regardless of who requests restitution. *State v. Ryan*, 78 Wn. App. 758, 761-62, 899 P.2d 825, *review denied*, 128 Wn.2d 1006 (1995).

This Court has consistently held the trial court has broad discretion in determining the amount of restitution. *Tobin*, 161 Wn.2d at 527-28; *Davison*, 116 Wn.2d at 920. This Court has also held the trial court is not required to order a specific amount:

While the restitution statute directs that restitution "shall" be ordered, it does not say that the restitution ordered must be equivalent to the injury, damage or loss Instead, RCW 9.94A.753 allows the judge considerable discretion in determining restitution, which ranges from none (in some extraordinary circumstances) up to double the offender's gain or the victim's loss.

State v. Kinneman, 155 Wn.2d 272, 282, 119 P.3d 250 (2005).

The Court of Appeals has also consistently recognized the trial court's broad discretion. State v. Ewing, 102 Wn. App. 349, 352, 7 P.3d 835 (2000) ("The language of restitution" statutes indicates the Legislature's intent to grant broad discretion to sentencing courts in awarding restitution."); State v. Mead, 67 Wn. App. 486, 490, 836 P.2d 257 (1992) (determining the amount of restitution is within the trial court's discretion.). Even if the statute provides for restitution, as it does under both subsections (5) and (7), the court has discretion to determine the amount: "When a particular type of restitution in question is authorized by statute, imposition of restitution is generally within the discretion of the trial court." State v. Kisor, 82 Wn. App. 175, 183, 916 P.2d 978 (1996) (abrogated on other grounds by State v. Enstone, 137 Wn.2d 675, 974 P.2d 828 (1999)).

In addition, the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the trial court has no discretion to determine the amount of restitution when it is requested pursuant to the CVCA violates

the separation of powers doctrine. This doctrine is a fundamental principle of our constitutional system. *Carrick v. Locke*, 125 Wn.2d 129, 134, 882 P.2d 173 (1994). While the three branches of our government are not "hermetically sealed off from one another," "the fundamental functions of each branch remain inviolate." *Id.* at 135.

The test under the separation of powers doctrine is "whether the activity of one branch threatens the independence or integrity or invades the prerogatives of another" branch. *Id.* (citations omitted). Another branch may not "impermissibly threaten[] the institutional integrity of the Judicial Branch." *Id.* at 136 (quoting *Mistretta v. United States*, 488 U.S. 361, 383 109 S. Ct. 647, 102 L. Ed. 2d 714 (1989)).

If the trial court has no authority to determine the amount of restitution when it is requested pursuant to the CVCA, it invades the prerogative of the judicial branch. The trial court is responsible for determining the amount of restitution, and another agency such as the prosecutor's office or the

Department of Labor and Industries cannot perform this function. *See State v. Forbes*, 43 Wn. App. 793, 800, 719 P.2d 941 (1986) (delegating the prosecution to determine the amount of restitution violates separation of powers). The trial court must set the amount of restitution. *Id.* Requiring the trial court to order whatever the amount of restitution the Department of Labor and Industries requests violates separation of powers.

The Court of Appeals was wrong to conclude the trial court had no discretion to determine the amount of restitution when requested under the CVCA. Its decision conflicts with decisions by this Court and the Court of Appeals and warrants this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Its holding that a state agency is permitted to perform a judicial function violates the separation of powers doctrine and due process, and it is a significant issue under both the United States and the Washington Constitutions. RAP 13.4(b)(3). In addition, because defendants are ordered to pay restitution under the CVCA every day, this Court's direction is necessary to guide

trial courts on this issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

F. CONCLUSION

Based on the preceding, Mr. Sandoval respectfully requests this Court to grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

I certify this brief contains 1,565 words and complies with RAP 18.17.