FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/26/2022 11:58 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101064-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BERNARDINO SANDOVAL,

Petitioner.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

JENNIFER P. JOSEPH Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

A. INTRODUCTION

Bernardino Sandoval appealed the trial court's restitution order on one specific ground: "The trial court erred when it refused to consider whether Mr. Sandoval's disabilities and reliance on government assistance were extraordinary circumstances that justified ordering no restitution." Br. of App. at 1 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals understood Sandoval's "sole argument" to be that "the trial court erred by failing to recognize the discretion to waive restitution . . . [under] RCW 9.94A.753(5)." Slip op. at *2 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals rejected Sandoval's claim after concluding that, by its plain language, "subsection (5) of RCW 9.94A.753 does not apply when payment has been made pursuant to the crime victims' compensation act." Id.

The applicable statute, RCW 9.94A.753(7), unambiguously states that "the court **shall order restitution** in all cases where the victim is entitled to benefits under the crime victims' compensation act," and the State requested restitution

solely to reimburse the crime victims' compensation fund for benefits paid to the victim. The Court of Appeals held that the trial court "had no discretion to deny the request based on 'extraordinary circumstances' within the meaning of RCW 9.94A.753(5)." Slip op. at *4.

Sandoval presents an entirely new argument in his petition for review: that the trial court improperly refused to exercise its discretion to "determine the amount of **restitution**." Pet. Rev. at 1. This departs from his argument to the Court of Appeals that the trial court had authority to refuse to order restitution at all. Sandoval misrepresents the record to claim that the trial court "concluded it had no discretion to order less or no restitution, and the Court of Appeals affirmed." Pet. Rev. at 2 (emphasis added). Aside from being an entirely new argument, Sandoval's assertion is plainly false. The trial court did exercise its discretion to impose less than the full amount of restitution requested—it refused to order \$901.12 in restitution for the victim's counseling costs, even though the

crime victims compensation fund had reimbursed those costs, on grounds that there was an insufficient "link" between the crime and the counseling. Slip op. at *1. Sandoval never asked the Court of Appeals to review the trial court's discretion to determine the *amount* of restitution. This Court should refuse to review this argument, which was raised for the first time in Sandoval's petition for review.

If the Court nevertheless accepts review in this case, it should also review procedural arguments the State advanced in the Court of Appeals, but which the Court of Appeals did not address. Specifically, if this Court grants Sandoval's petition, it should also review whether Sandoval invited and/or failed to preserve any error by agreeing with the trial court that his indigency was not a basis to waive restitution.

B. <u>STANDARD FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW</u>

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b).

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals succinctly set forth the facts of this case in its unpublished opinion:

In 2018, Sandoval stabbed his romantic partner. He pleaded guilty to domestic violence assault in the third degree and unlawful display of a weapon. In conjunction with his plea, Sandoval agreed to join the State's recommendation for an above-range exceptional sentence of 72 months and agreed to pay restitution in an amount to be determined at a future hearing.

The trial court imposed a sentence in accordance with the plea agreement. The court found that Sandoval was indigent and waived all nonmandatory fees, fines, and costs. The court imposed only the mandatory victim penalty assessment. See RCW 7.68.035(1)(a) (mandatory \$500 victim penalty assessment upon conviction of felony or gross misdemeanor).

Before the restitution hearing, the State submitted a request for restitution of \$3,339.68 and supplied

documentation showing that, pursuant to the crime victims' compensation act, chapter 7.68 RCW, the Crime Victims Compensation Program administered by the state Department of Labor and Industries (Department) had paid benefits in that amount for the victim's medical bills and counseling costs. RCW 7.68.015.

At the hearing, Sandoval objected to restitution. Sandoval argued that the court should not impose restitution for medical expenses because the victim left the hospital after the incident allegedly against medical advice. And Sandoval claimed the supporting documentation did not establish that the counseling was related to the crime.

More generally, Sandoval argued that because of certain disabilities, he had no current or future ability to pay restitution. Sandoval asserted he suffered from two types of arthritis, was "almost legally hearing-impaired," and would face an "almost impossible" burden in making payment because, upon release, he would be reliant on governmental assistance and Social Security benefits. Sandoval generally described other ailments that, he contended, showed an inability to become gainfully employed and make restitution in the amount the State requested. The superior court indicated on the record that it did not believe the restitution statute authorized waiver of the obligation solely based on indigent status.

The trial court ordered Sandoval to pay restitution of \$2,438.56 for benefits paid to reimburse the victim for medical expenses. The court declined to order \$901.12 in restitution for the victim's counseling costs, finding no evidence of a "link" between the crime and the counseling. The court also concluded that Sandoval's

indigence did not provide a basis to **waive** restitution. Sandoval appeals.

Slip op. at 1 (emphasis added).

D. ARGUMENT

1. This Court Should Deny The Petition For Review Because It Seeks Review Of An Issue Never Presented To The Court Of Appeals

Sandoval contends the trial court erred by failing to recognize its discretion to determine the amount of restitution to impose when the State seeks reimbursement of benefits paid under the crime victims compensation act. He argues that a contrary conclusion would violate the separation of powers doctrine. But he made neither of these arguments to the trial court or the Court of Appeals, presenting them for the first time in his petition for review. Consequently, the Court of Appeals has issued no decision on whether a trial court has discretion to order a lesser amount of restitution than the amount paid to the victim by the crime victim compensation fund and has never considered the proffered constitutional separation of powers argument. Sandoval's petition misrepresents both the

arguments he made below and the holding of the Court of
Appeals, which was clearly limited to the question of whether
the trial court could "waive" restitution—i.e., refuse to order
restitution at all—where the request is based on benefits paid
through the crime victims compensation fund. Sandoval fails to
acknowledge that the issues presented in his petition are
different from the ones he made to the trial court and the Court
of Appeals and offers no explanation for why this Court should
accept review notwithstanding that fact.

This Court will not ordinarily consider an issue not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals. State v. Halstine, 122
Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993); RAP 13.3(a) (allowing a party to seek review by the Supreme Court of a "decision" of the Court of Appeals). Since Sandoval seeks review of an issue never raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals, and of a decision never made by the Court of Appeals, this Court should decline review.

2. If This Court Nevertheless Accepts Review, The State Seeks Cross-Review Of Issue-Preservation And Invited Error Issues Raised In, But Not Addressed By, The Court Of Appeals.

In the Court of Appeals, the State argued that the court need not reach the merits of Sandoval's claims because Sandoval invited any error and/or waived review of his claim that the trial court should have waived restitution based on extraordinary circumstances. Br. of Respondent at 5-12. Specifically, the State argued that while Sandoval had urged the trial court to consider his indigence and disability in determining the amount of restitution, he did not argue that his situation constituted "extraordinary circumstances . . . which make restitution inappropriate" under RCW 9.94A.753(5), to which Sandoval did not even refer. RP 85. The superior court expressed its understanding that the restitution statute did not authorize the court to waive restitution based on indigency and asked defense counsel to respond. RP 89, 92. Sandoval's

counsel stated, "I would reluctantly agree." RP 92 (emphasis added).

A party may not generally raise a new argument on appeal that the party did not present to the trial court. State v. Stoddard, 192 Wn. App. 222, 226, 366 P.3d 474 (2016). To preserve an issue for review, "a party must inform the court of the rules of law it wishes the court to apply and afford the court an opportunity to correct any error." Id. (citing Smith v. Shannon, 100 Wn.2d 26, 37, 666 P.2d 351 (1983)).

By failing to cite any authority under which the court could refuse to impose proven restitution and agreeing with the court that the statute does not permit it to waive restitution based on indigency, Sandoval deprived the superior court of the opportunity to avoid the error he alleged on appeal. The Court of Appeals should have declined to review the unpreserved alleged error under RAP 2.5(a); State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). If this Court accepts

Sandoval's petition for review, it should also review whether Sandoval failed to preserve the issue.

The State also argued in the Court of Appeals that
Sandoval had invited any error when he "reluctantly agreed"
with the trial court that it lacked authority to deny restitution.
Br. of Respondent at 11-12.

The invited error doctrine "prohibits a party from setting up error in the trial court and then complaining of it on appeal." State v. Young, 63 Wn. App. 324, 330, 818 P.2d 1375 (1991). Appellate courts will not review a party's assertion of an error to which the party "materially contributed" at trial. In re Dep. of K.R., 128 Wn.2d 129, 147, 904 P.2d 1132 (1995).

In <u>Young</u>, a defendant convicted of vehicular homicide was ordered to pay the decedent's child support obligation as restitution. 63 Wn. App. at 326. Division Two of this Court held that Young was not entitled to challenge the restitution order because he had invited any error when his counsel stated during the restitution hearing that "the child support obligation

[is] a legitimate aim of restitution" and that "restitution should encompass child support." <u>Id.</u> at 330. Counsel's agreement that restitution should include child support "invited any error embodied in the resultant order requiring him to do that." <u>Id.</u>

The same is true here. Through counsel, Sandoval affirmatively agreed that the court lacked authority to waive restitution. By doing so, Sandoval "invited any error embodied in the resultant order" requiring him to pay restitution in the proven amount. The Court of Appeals should have held that Sandoval invited any error in the restitution award. If this Court grants review of Sandoval's petition, it should also review whether Sandoval invited the alleged error, precluding review.

E. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for review should be denied.

This document contains 1,924 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.